# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AUG 26 1999

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

XZAVIER TRAPP,

Petitioner, :

v.

CASE NO. 96,074

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

# INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

EARL S. MCGINNES #243663 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

### I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Mr. Xzavier Trapp was the defendant in the trial court, "appellant" before the District Court Of Appeal, First District, and will be referred to as "Petitioner," "Mr. Trapp," or "defendant" in this brief. Respondent will be referred to as "State". The record on appeal will be referred to as "R" followed by a colon, volume number I, and the corresponding page number all within parentheses. The transcript of court proceedings will be referred to as "T" followed by a colon, volumes number I-III, and the corresponding page number all within parentheses.

Filed with this brief is an appendix containing documents pertinent to the issues raised on appeal, as well as a copy of the district court's decision in <a href="Trapp v. State">Trapp v. State</a>, 24 F.L.W. D1431a (Fla. 1st DCA June 17, 1999) (A: 1-2). Reference to the appendix

will be by use of the symbol "A" followed by a colon, then followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

The undersigned certifies this brief is using Courier New, 12 point, a non-proportional font.

### II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On April 16, 1992, Xzavier Trapp pled no contest to a charge of Aggravated Battery without a Firearm in case number 91-3640-CFA. As a result, Mr. Trapp was adjudicated guilty of the second degree felony and placed on three years probation. (R:Vol I, 21-29).

Because of several intervening violation reports, Mr. Trapp was still on probation in 1997. In January of 1997, another Affidavit of Violation Report was filed alleging that he had been arrested for Attempted First Degree Murder. (R:Vol I, 118-122).

On the afternoon of January 10, 1997, Willie Dunn was hanging around Lake Terrace Apartments with friends. As he and five or so other guys talked, Xzavier Trapp pulled up in a white car. Dunn knew Mr. Trapp from around the neighborhood. (T:Vol I, 42).

Mr. Trapp walked up to the group with his puppy. He wanted the other guys to find another puppy to fight his. Mr. Trapp thought his puppy could beat any they produced. This discussion escalated into an argument between Mr. Trapp and Dunn. Eventually, Mr. Trapp left in his car. (T:Vol I, 43-44).

Mr. Dunn walked to the local convenience store. While he was there, a guy walked up to him and stated that Mr. Trapp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See generally (R:Vol I, 30-36, 57-61, 63-65, 75-79, 80-85, 90-94).

wanted to fight him "one-on-one". Dunn replied that he didn't want to fight and walked back to the park area near the apartments. (T:Vol I, 44-45).

Dunn was shooting baskets with his friends back at Lake Terrace Apartments when another person came up to him. This person stated that Mr. Trapp did not want to fight him in the park. Although Mr. Dunn had previously replied that he did not want to fight, he left the park and started walking down the sidewalk. (T:Vol I, 46-47).

A white car pulled along side Mr. Dunn as he walked. Mr. Dunn later testified that Mr. Trapp was the driver. Dunn remembered the driver asking him, "What's up?" Still, Dunn kept walking. The person in the car then pulled a gun from between his legs, pointed it at Mr. Dunn, and questioned, "What's up now?"<sup>2</sup> (T:Vol I, 47-48).

Mr. Dunn put his jacket in front of him as a shield. Still, he was shot once in the abdomen. He took off running as shots continued to ring out.  $(T:Vol\ I,\ 51-52)$ .

Mr. Dunn was taken to the emergency room. Dr. Orvin Jenkins was the surgeon on duty. He did emergency surgery to save Dunn's life. The bullet had pierced the stomach and liver requiring

 $<sup>^2</sup>$ Eye witnesses to the shooting (Gamelle Davis, Shanika Banister, and Aaron Hamilton) later remembered the two men arguing, the driver pulling out a gun, the driver hesitating for a moment, and then the drive shooting the gun multiple times. (T:Vol I, 74-79, 92, 105-106, 108).

sutures. The bullet was not removed at the time. However after several complications, the bullet was eventually removed. (T:Vol. I, 122-124).

Detective Drayton McDaniel of the Gainesville Police

Department arrived at the scene and spoke with several of the witnesses. Because of his investigation, he came to the conclusion that Xzavier Trapp was a suspect. (T:Vol I, 128).

Detective McDaniel and Detective Brett Starr drove to Mr. Trapp's home. Mr. Trapp's girlfriend, Marva Wade, was there. She allowed the officers to search her home and her white Toyota Camry. Still, the officers recovered no physical evidence. (T:Vol I, 36-37, 164-166).

Mr. Trapp turned himself in to the police department that evening.

Detective McDaniel advised Mr. Trapp of his rights. Mr. Trapp explained that he did not want to be interviewed without a lawyer. However, he explained that he wanted to tell his side of the story. He told the detective that five guys wanted to beat him up and had been harassing his wife. He explained that his fingerprints would obviously be in the white car because it was his wife's and he was allowed to drive it. (T:Vol I, 132-134).

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Mr. Trapp by Information with Attempted First Degree Premeditated Murder. (R:Vol I, 147).

Mr. Trapp proceeded to jury trial stipulating that the trial court would hear and consider the violation of probation at the same time.

Prior to trial, the State showed Mr. Trapp a demonstrative aid it intended to use. This aid was a diagram of the scene where the shooting occurred. Mr. Trapp objected on grounds that it was not to scale. He argued that there was testimony that cars were lined up along the road, yet the aid showed only one car (presumably the shooter's car). He also argued that the aid did not accurately show the number of apartment houses that lined the streets.

The State agreed that the diagram was not to scale. However, it argued that it was just to give the jury a general idea of the surroundings. The trial court overruled Mr. Trapp's objection. (T:Vol I, 8-11).

Prior to testimony beginning, Mr. Trapp requested that the trial court recognize his continuing objection to the diagram. The trial court agreed. (T:Vol I, 35).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The defense theory at trial was that the witnesses had identified the wrong person. Marva Wade testified that she was using her car on the afternoon of January 10, 1997, so Mr. Trapp could not have been over at Lake Terrace Apartments. (T:Vol I, 36-37, 39-41).

As Mr. Dunn began to explain the circumstances surrounding the shooting, the State pulled out the diagram. It asked Mr. Dunn to step down and describe the events using the diagram as a reference. (T:Vol I, 46-48).

On cross-examination, Dunn explained that there were cars lining the street that were not depicted in the diagram. He spoke of a hundred or so eye witnesses standing around who were also not on the diagram. He admitted further that there were approximately 15-20 houses on the three blocks that had been omitted from the diagram. (T:Vol I, 61-63).

The State called Gamelle Davis as an eyewitness to the shooting. As Ms. Davis testified as to where she stood during the shooting, she used the diagram as a reference. Her initials were placed where she testified that she was standing. (T:Vol I, 75-77).

On cross-examination, Ms. Davis admitted that the diagram lacked the eight to ten apartments that were actually between her mother's house (where she had come from) and University Avenue. She also noted that the diagram lacked the cars and people that were in the area. (T:Vol I, 82-83).

Shanika Banister used the diagram during her testimony for the State. She explained that she was walking some distance behind Mr. Dunn right before he got shot. Her initials were placed on the diagram to show her location during the shooting. She explained that she was only a couple feet away. (T:Vol I, 91-93).

During Ms. Banister's cross-examination, however, it became apparent that she did not really know how far away she had been from the shooting. During an earlier deposition, she had estimated the distance as 50 meters. (T:Vol I, 97).

Ms. Banister also noted that apartments were missing from the diagram. (T:Vol I, 101).

The State next called Aaron Hamilton to the stand. When asked if the diagram accurately represented the area where the shooting occurred, Mr. Hamilton honestly stated, "Sort of." (T:Vol I, 106).

It became clear during the trial that Mr. Trapp's defense was that he was not the shooter. During closing arguments, he argued that the State tried to make the evidence appear neat and tidy. Using the diagram, he pointed out that all the cars that were supposed to be lining the road that day were absent from the drawing. He also argued to the jury that the diagram did not show the apartment buildings that surrounded the area. (T:Vol II, 215).

The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged. Separately, the jury found that Mr. Trapp personally carried a firearm during the course of the attempted murder. (R:Vol I, 194)(T:Vol II, 257).

The trial court revoked Mr. Trapp's probation in case number 91-3640-CFA and sentenced him within the recommended range to  $4\frac{1}{2}$  years Department of Corrections with credit for 199 days. (R:Vol I, 138-141) (T:Vol III, 265, 276-277).

The trial court adjudicated Mr. Trapp guilty of Attempted First Degree Premeditated Murder. Using the 1995 sentencing guidelines scoresheet, the trial court sentenced him to the top of the guidelines range of 155.75 months (12.81 years) Department of Corrections with credit for 292 days. No objection was made to the use of these guidelines. The trial court announced that the first three years would be minimum mandatory. The trial court also ran the two sentences concurrent. (R:Vol I, 196-202)(T:Vol, 275, 277).

On November 18, 1997, Mr. Trapp filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (R:Vol I, 142, 203).

On appeal before the District Court of Appeal, First District, petitioner advanced two arguments: (1) whether the trial court erred in allowing the state to present demonstrative evidence in the form of a diagram; and, (2) whether the 1995 criminal guidelines score sheet provisions of chapter 95-184 are unconstitutional in violation of the single-subject rule.

The Court rejected the first issue without elaboration. As to the second, while ruling that Chapter 95-184 did not violate the single-subject rule, the following issue was certified to the

Court as involving a question of great public importance:

WHETHER CHAPTER 95-184 VIOLATES ARTICLE III, SECTION 6 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Trapp v. State, supra (A:1-2).

#### IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: Visual aids are one of the best ways to focus in on key evidence. These aids are allowed as long as they accurately depict or replicate the original scene. However, where the aids are inaccurate, they may mislead or confuse the jury. Therefore, in such instances the aids should be excluded from trial.

The trial court allowed the State to continually show the jury a diagram of the scene where Mr. Dunn was shot. However, it became clear that the diagram was not accurate, nor anywhere near a replication of the way the scene actually looked that January afternoon.

The trial court abused it discretion in allowing the diagram to be shown to the jury. Moreover, because Mr. Trapp's defense at trial was misidentification, allowing the confusing diagram constituted harmful error. Mr. Trapp respectfully requests this Court grant him a new trial.

ISSUE II: Mr. Trapp was improperly sentenced using the 1995 sentencing guidelines scoresheet.

The 1995 scoresheet was created by Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida. This law violates the constitutional prohibition against multiple subject laws. Art. III, § 6, Fla. Const.

The law contains 35 sections dealing with the subject of criminal sentencing and penalties. The law then turns to the

completely separate subject of civil remedies for domestic violence injunction violations in sections 36-38.

A similar statute, Chapter 95-182, has been held unconstitutional [for violating the single subject requirement] by the Second District. Thompson v. State, 708 So.2d 315 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998).

As this Court should find Chapter 95-184 to also be unconstitutional, Mr. Trapp respectfully requests this Court remand his case for resentencing under the 1994 guidelines scoresheet.

#### V. ARGUMENT

I: THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO PRESENT DEMONSTRATIVE EVIDENCE IN THE FORM OF A DIAGRAM WHICH DID NOT ACCURATELY DEPICT THE CRIME SCENE.

Strategic trial advocacy often includes the use of visual aids. In this electronic age, a picture is certainly worth a thousand words. Visual aids bring focus and emphasis to the auditory evidence. See Alston v. Shiver, 105 So.2d 785 (Fla. 1958) (noting that "[s]uch evidence is generally more effective than a description given by a witness ...). See also 23 Fla. Jur. 2d Evidence and Witnesses § 365 (1995); Milton Hirsch, Florida Criminal Trial Procedure 291 (2d ed. 1995).

Demonstrative exhibits (such as diagrams) which aid the jury in understanding a relevant issue of the trial are clearly proper. Conversely, exhibits which are inaccurate, thus misleading to the jury, should never be allowed. Taylor v. State, 640 So.2d 1127, 1134 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); Brown v. State, 550 So.2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); Alston at 791. Charles W. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence § 401.1 (1997 ed.).

If the demonstrative evidence offered to the jury does not show the jury a reasonably exact reproduction, then it should be excluded from the trial. See, e.g., Detroit Marine Engineering.

Inc. v. Maloy, 419 So.2d 687, 692 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Alston at 791.

This Court must review the trial court's error to determined whether the court abused its discretion in allowing Mr. Trapp's jury to view the State's diagram. Brown at 528.

Admittedly, the State's diagram was never entered into evidence. However, the jury was allowed to view the diagram (as if it was in evidence) repeatedly with the testimony of each State witness. The only thing the jury did not do was take the diagram back into the jury room. Therefore, as found in the above cited case law, it was necessary for the diagram to be an accurate depiction of the scene.

Clearly, it was not. This was evidenced by the State's own witnesses who repeatedly testified that the diagram lacked markers for the hundred or so witnesses who were milling about that day. These same witnesses agreed that the cars that lined the street that January afternoon were also not depicted in the diagram. More importantly, the witnesses testified that the diagram failed to show all the apartment buildings that were actually located on the block where the shooting occurred.

At first this may seem like nit-picking on Mr. Trapp's part.

However, an overview of the trial shows how crucial this diagram

was to the State's case.

Mr. Trapp's defense was that he had been misidentified as the man who shot Willie Dunn. The State's witnesses who identified Mr. Trapp gave varying accounts of their distances

from the shooting. Also, they could not physically describe the shooter except to say that it was Mr. Trapp.

The jurors looking at the State's diagram saw a clear, tidy scene without any obstacles to block the eyewitnesses' views of the shooter. Although the jury was told of the obstacles, the jurors were never visually oriented to them.

A proper drawing would have shown the jury that the witnesses' views were quite obstructed. Showing the actual, numerous obstructions would have brought into question what the witnesses could have actually seen that afternoon. Further, it would have lent more credence to Mr. Trapp's defense that he was misidentified.

This visual aid was used to enhance the State's case against Mr. Trapp. It served the State well. Unfortunately, the State relied on an inaccurate, incomplete diagram that it showed the jury again and again. The trial court erred in allowing the State to so rely.

The State's intentions in using the diagram were that it definitely be considered by the jury in returning a guilty verdict. Therefore, it can not be said beyond a reasonable doubt that this error was not considered by the jury in reaching its verdict. The error is harmful. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Mr. Trapp is entitled to a new trial.

Petitioner lastly notes that the Court has discretion to rule on the above issue. <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1983).

II: THE 1995 CRIMINAL GUIDELINES SCORESHEET PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER 95-184 ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE THE STATUTE THAT CREATED THEM VIOLATED THE STATE CONSTITUTIONAL SINGLE SUBJECT PROVISION

The district court, in <u>Trapp v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, certified the following issue to the Court:

WHETHER CHAPTER 95-184 VIOLATES ARTICLE III, SECTION 6 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

(A:2). Petitioner requests the Court to answer this question "yes."

#### A. STANDING.

Mr. Trapp's substantive crime was committed on January 10, 1997. Mr. Trapp was convicted and sentenced using the guidelines scoresheet which went into effect October 1, 1995 as a result of significant changes enacted by Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida. Under the 1995 guidelines scoresheet, Mr. Trapp's incarceration range spanned from 93.45 months to 155.75 months.

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida became effective on October 1, 1995. Chapter 97-97 reenacted the 1995 amendments contained in 95-184 effective May 24, 1997. See State v. Johnson, 616 So.2d 1, 2 (Fla. 1993) ("Once reenacted as a portion of the Florida Statutes, a chapter law is no longer subject to challenge on the grounds that it violates the single subject requirement of Article III, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution.").

(R:Vol I, 201-202). He received a guidelines sentence of 155.75 months Department of Corrections.

However, had the 1994 guidelines scoresheet been used, Mr. Trapp's incarceration range would have spanned from 86.4 months to 144 months. The difference in maximums (assuming the trial court would still impose the maximum) is almost a year incarceration.

Because Mr. Trapp was specifically and adversely affected as a result of the amendments made in Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida, he has standing to challenge the statute. See generally 10 Fla. Jur. 2d, Constitutional Law §§ 73-74 (courts will go no farther than they have to in declaring a legislative act invalid, and litigants can challenge the constitutionality of statutes only to the extent they are adversely affected by them).

#### B. PRESERVATION.

No objection was raised at the trial level. Further, Mr. Trapp is raising a facial challenge to Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida. Still, this issue is one of fundamental error. Johnson v. State, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993) (holding the error to be fundamental where the defendant's punishment was enhanced as a result of the unconstitutional chapter law).

Chapter 95-184 violates the single subject requirement because it addresses two distinct subjects: career criminal sentencing and civil remedies for domestic violence injunctions.

#### C. MERITS.

## I. The Single Subject Requirement

Article III, section 6 of the Florida Constitution provides:

Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title.

This provision serves three purposes:

(1) to prevent hodge podge or "log rolling" legislation, i.e., putting to unrelated matters in one act; (2) to prevent surprise or fraud by means of provisions in bills of which the titles gave no intimation, and which might therefore be overlooked and carelessly and unintentionally adopted; and (3) to fairly apprise the people of the subjects of legislation that are being considered, in order that they may have opportunity of being heard thereon.

<u>State v. Canova</u>, 94 So.2d 181, 184 (Fla. 1957) (emphasis added).

It has oft been said that "[t]he subject of a law is that which is expressed in the title, ... and it may be as broad as the legislature chooses provided the matters included in the law have a natural or logical connection." <u>State v. Lee</u>, 356 So.2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978) (citation and internal quotes omitted).

However, this statement should not be read too literally. As will be discussed below, an enormously broad topic will not necessarily be considered a "single subject" merely because the legislature endows it with a consuming title. Instead, courts have an obligation to insure that legislative "subjects" do not

expand to such abstract and amorphous levels that Article III, section 6 is rendered ineffectual. See, e.g.'s, Bunnell v. State, 453 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1984), guashing, State v. Bunnell, 447 So.2d 228 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); Williams v. State, 459 So.2d 319 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

Thus, in recent cases (discussed below), such titles as "the criminal justice system", "comprehensive economic development", and "environmental resources" have been held to be too broad as to be considered a single subject. See, e.g.'s, Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 1991); Alachua County v. Florida Petroleum Marketers, 589 So.2d 240 (Fla. 1991); State v. Leavins, 599 So.2d 1326 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

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