### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

XZAVIER TRAPP,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 96,074

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

GISELLE LYLEN RIVERA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0508012

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

The district court rejected this claim that the use of a visual aid by witnesses was prejudicial error with a terse statement that "we find no error." This Court should also exercise its discretion and decline to address this insignificant and non-meritorious claim.

The District Court of Appeal properly found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting the State to have witnesses use a diagram to help explain their testimony. The issue raised on appeal below and before this Court, is not identical to the objection below. Thus, it was not properly preserved for appellate review here.

Even if the argument is considered, it is clear the argument is without merit. Witnesses may use representations which are reasonably accurate depictions of the matter discussed; these representations need not rise to the level of exactitude urged by the Petitioner. Even if the diagram should not have been used, its use was, at most, merely harmless, in view of the fact that it was made clear to the jury, through the testimony of numerous witnesses, that the diagram was not, and was not intended to be, an exact replication of the crime scene. The diagram contained no evidence, and was not introduced into evidence. It had no significance in view of the multiple witnesses who identified the defendant as the person who shot the victim.

### ISSUE II

The Petitioner's contention that the Crime Control Act violates the single subject provision of the Florida Constitution is without merit. The Act addresses criminal sentencing and includes types of criminal conduct which comprise domestic violence. It also provides remedies for victims of domestic violence. The various sections of the Act therefore have a natural and logical connection to each other.

### **ARGUMENT**

### ISSUE I

SHOULD THIS COURT CONDUCT ERROR REVIEW TO CONSIDER A CLAIM AFFIRMED WITHOUT COMMENT BY THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, AND IF IT DOES, HAS THE PETITIONER MET HIS BURDEN OF ESTABLISHING THE EXISTENCE OF REVERSIBLE ERROR BY SHOWING THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO USE A DIAGRAM OF THE AREA IN WHICH THE CRIME TOOK PLACE AS A TOOL TO FACILITATE WITNESS TESTIMONY? (Restated)

The Petitioner asserts that the trial court erred in permitting the state to use a diagram as a demonstrative aid when the diagram was not to scale. In essence, he contends that the fact that the diagram did not include potential obstructions to their view which might have effected their ability to identify him rendered use of the diagram improper. The Court should exercise its discretion not to address this issue but, if it does, the claim is without merit for a variety of reasons.

The State acknowledges that this Court has discretionary authority to consider issues other than those upon which jurisdiction is based where such other issues are fully briefed and dispositive of the case, <u>Savoie v. State</u>, 422 So.2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1982), but notes that the District Court below affirmed on this claim without comment. Clearly the instant issue is not dispositive of the case and the State therefore asserts that this Court should decline to address this issue. See: <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 572 So.2d 1387 (Fla. 1991) and <u>State v. Gibson</u>, 585 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1991)(Court declined to address other issues raised by

the parties which lay beyond the scope of the certified question.); Burks v. State, 613 So.2d 441, 446 fn.6 (Fla. 1993) ("We decline to address the other issues raised in the appeal because they are unnecessary to the resolution of the certified question."); State v. Hodges, 616 So.2d 994 (Fla. 1993) (The Court declined to address the second certified question in which claimant made a new argument for the first time on the grounds that it would require resolution of extensive factual matters, citing, Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982).)

In the event that this Court determines to consider the issue despite the principle set forth in <u>Savoie</u>, the State asserts that the argument made here is not the same as that made in the trial court and is thus not preserved. In any event, the claim is without legal merit.

### **PRESERVATION**

The State points out that the original objection at trial is not the same as the argument presented on appeal, and the issue is not preserved for appellate review. The District Court of Appeal therefore properly affirmed without comment.

The record below shows that at the pretrial hearing the Petitioner argued the use of the diagram violated due process because witnesses would be able to answer questions crucial to the case based upon what some unknown person had written on it. (T1, 8). The other problems complained of by defense counsel were that the diagram depicted one vehicle whereas the victim

stated there were cars parked up and down the road and the fact that the diagram was not drawn to scale. (V1, 8,9). At no time at the trial court level did the Petitioner make the same argument asserted on appeal, i.e., that the placement of the apartments across the road, the cars in the area, and the people present, effected the ability of the eyewitnesses to the crime to accurately identify him. Because the argument on appeal differs from the objection at trial, the issue is not preserved for appellate review. F.S. 924.051; Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982).

The petitioner has the burden of establishing that prejudicial error occurred and was properly preserved in the trial court, or, if not preserved, that prejudicial error constitutes fundamental error. F.S. 924.041(3). Thus, in this case, to prevail, he must prove that his claim relating to the diagram rises to the level of fundamental error in view of his failure to preserve it below.

Should this Court reject the preservation argument made above, the State includes the following merits argument.

### Standard of Review

The issue is controlled by an abuse of discretion standard.

Reaves v. State, 639 So. 2d 1, 6 (Fla. 1994); Pozo v. State, 682

So. 2d 1124, 1125 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); 27th Ave. Gulf Service

Center v. Smellie, 510 So. 2d 996, 998 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (Trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing demonstrative

evidence to show how the accident occurred). Thus, only where the Petitioner can show that no reasonable person would have taken the position the lower court did, may he prevail.

Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980).

A trial court should permit the introduction of relevant evidence which is otherwise not excluded under the evidence code. Section 90.403, Florida Statutes (1983); State v. Wright, 473
So.2d 268, 269-70 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). While a demonstrative exhibit which is totally inaccurate should be excluded, it need be only a reasonably accurate representation. Brown v. State,
550 So. 2d 527 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). In those cases where a replica of an item, Alston v. State, 105 So. 2d 785 (Fla. 1958), or in which computer animation is used to recreate an event or a duplicate of an item is used, the accuracy requirement appears to be more stringent. See: Pierce v. State, 718 So.2d 806 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). However, even in those types of cases, the replication need only be "reasonably accurate." Brown v. State,

The use of diagrams should be governed by the lesser standard because diagrammatic representations are received, not as independent evidence, but in connection with other evidence to enable the jury to better understand the case. West v. State, 53 Fla. 77, 43 So. 445 (Fla. 1907); Livingston v. State, 140 Fla. 749, 192 So. 327 (Fla. 1939). This is particularly true where, as in this case, the diagram was not admitted into evidence, but was instead merely used as a testimonial tool.

The Petitioner's argument ignores the fact that representations of scenes are often used by witnesses during their testimony as a means of assisting them in presenting their testimony and as a means of illustrating events to the jury. For example, crime scene sketches of the homicide and subject room are frequently used, Brown v. State, 532 So.2d 1326, 1327 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), as are rough accident sketches to show direction and point of impact. 27th Ave. Gulf Service Center v. Smellie, The fact that these renditions do not contain every item in the original setting or are not to scale do not prevent their Here, the general area was depicted in the drawing and the fact that the apartments across the street were omitted is irrelevant since it is not shown that their absence effected the witnesses' observation of the person who committed the crime. Furthermore, no drawing made after the fact could account for each and every car or person in the vicinity. Only a photo taken at the exact moment of the crime could do so and the case in which such a photo is taken is unusual indeed. In any event, all witnesses were subject to cross examination on the reliability of their identification of the defendant.

The use of diagrams by courts in explaining the basis upon which they reach a decision illustrates the effectiveness of such drawings in explaining evidence and establishes that the courts are themselves not slaves to the fastidious exactitude urged by the Petitioner. In Osborn v. King, 194 So.2d 912 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967), for example, the court relied upon a diagram attached to

the opinion, noting that although it was not drawn to scale, it would help illustrate the location of the matters of expert testimony.

Regardless, even if this Court finds that the trial court erred in permitting the witnesses to use the diagram during their testimony, any error is, at most, merely harmless. State v. <u>DiGuillio</u>, 429 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); <u>Rhames v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d 724, 726 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); §§924.051(7) & 924.33. the record shows that the Petitioner repeatedly elicited from the witnesses the fact that the diagram did not include all of the buildings on the street, cars on the street, or people in the area. However, more significantly, the Petitioner presented no evidence to show that the witnesses' observations were in any fashion effected by the presence of these things or people. Thus, their omission from the diagram was not important. Finally, the Petitioner ignores the fact that while his defense was one of misidentification, both the victim and other witnesses who testified identified him as the perpetrator and these persons knew the Petitioner for a period of several years. the diagram had no impact on the jury verdict and did not cause the jury to return a verdict it otherwise would not have. Court should affirm on this issue if it addresses it at all.

### ISSUE II

DOES CHAPTER 95-184 VIOLATE THE SINGLE SUBJECT PROVISION, ARTICLE III, §6 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION? (Restated)

The Petitioner contends that the enactment of Chapter 95-184, Laws of Florida, violates the single subject rule and is therefore unconstitutional. The argument is without merit because a reasonable and rational relationship exists between all of the sections of the Act.

### PRESERVATION

This issue is preserved.

### **MERITS**

### PRESUMPTION OF CONSTITUTIONALITY

Legislative acts are strongly presumed to be constitutional.

See: State v. Kinner, 398 So. 2d 1360, 1363 (Fla. 1981). Courts should resolve every reasonable doubt in favor of the constitutionality of a statute. Florida Leaque of Cities, Inc. V. Administration Commission, 586 So. 2d 397, 412 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). An act should not be declared unconstitutional unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt. Todd v. State, 643 So. 2d 625, 627 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Single subject challenges, like all constitutional challenges, are governed by these principles. State v. Physical Therapy Rehabilitation Center of Coral Springs, Inc., 665 So. 2d 1127, 1130 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (noting, in the context of a constitutional challenge

to a statute alleging a defective title, that a presumption exists in favor of the validity of the statute.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law to be reviewed on appeal de novo. See: United States v. Cardoza, 129 F.3d 6, 10 (1st Cir. 1997); United States v. Bailey, 115 F.3d 1222, 1225 (5th Cir. 1997); United States v. Wilson, 73 F.3d 675, 678 (7th Cir. 1995); United States v. Crawford, 115 F.3d 1397, 1400 (8th Cir. 1997); United States v. Michael R., 90 F.3d 340, 343 (9th Cir. 1996). An appellate court reviews the constitutionality of all statutes, including sentencing statutes, de novo. United States v. Quinn, 123 F.3d 1415, 1425 (11th Cir. 1997). Thus, the standard of review is de novo. Phillip J. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice § 9.4 (2d Ed. 1997).

### **MERITS**

The single subject provision, Article III, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution, provides that "[e]very law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title."

The purpose of this constitutional prohibition against a plurality of subjects in a single legislative act is to prevent "logrolling," Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So. 2d 1167, 1172 (Fla. 1991); State v. Lee, 356 So. 2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978), a practice whereby several separate issues are rolled into a single

legislative initiative in order to aggregate votes or secure approval of an otherwise unpopular issue. <u>In re Advisory Opinion</u> to the Attorney General -- Save Our Everglades, 636 So. 2d 1336, 1339 (Fla. 1994).

An act may be as broad as the legislature chooses to make it provided the matters included in it have a natural or logical connection. Chenoweth v. Kemp, 396 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. 1981);

Board of Public Instruction v. Doran, 224 So. 2d 693, 699 (Fla. 1969). Broad and comprehensive legislative enactments are not in violation of the single subject provision. See: Smith v.

Department of Insurance, 507 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1987). The test to determine whether legislation meets the single subject provision is based upon a common sense application. Id. at 1087.

Historically, this Court has accorded great deference to the legislature in the single subject area, recognizing that the rule affords the legislature wide latitude in its enactment of laws.

State v. Lee, 356 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 1978); State v. Leavins, 599

So. 2d 1326, 1334 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

Examples abound where this Court has held that acts covering a broad range of issues do not violate the single subject provision. The single subject provision is not violated when an act provides for the decriminalization of traffic infractions and also creates a criminal penalty for willful refusal to sign a traffic citation. State v. McDonald, 357 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 1978). This provision was also not held to have been violated where an act covered both automobile insurance and tort law, State v. Lee,

supra, nor was it violated where an Act dealt with a broad range of topics dealing with medical malpractice and insurance since tort litigation and insurance reform have a natural or logical connection. Chenoweth v. Kemp, supra; Smith v. Department of Insurance, supra. Similarly, an act establishing a tax on services which included an allocation scheme for use of tax revenues was deemed not to have violated the single subject provision. In re Advisory Opinion to the Governor, 509 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1987). Finally, this Court has found that an act dealing with comprehensive criminal regulations, money laundering, and safe neighborhoods was valid since each of the areas addressed bore a logical relationship to the single subject of controlling crime. Burch v. State, 558 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1990).

The provisions of Chapter 95-184, the Crime Control Act of 1995, contain provisions, in sections two through twenty-seven, dealing with discussion of those crimes to which the act applies, definitions, offense severity levels, the guidelines worksheet and attendant computations, recommended and departure sentences, and amendments to certain criminal statutes. Sections twenty-eight through thirty-three amend statutes dealing with assistance to victims of crime, Chapter 960: F.S. 960.293 (determination of damages and losses), F.S. 960.29 (legislative findings and intent dealing with restitution to victims including civil liens), F.S. 960.291 (definitions), F.S. 960.292 (enforcement of civil restitution liens), and F.S. 960.295 (civil restitution lien supplemental to

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